Journal of Alloys and Compounds 660 (2016) 73-79



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Alloys and Compounds

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/jalcom



Characterization of microstructures and growth orientation deviating of Al₂Cu phase dendrite at different directional solidification rates



贉

CrossMark

Ka Gao^{a,*}, Shaojie Song^b, Shuangming Li^a, Hengzhi Fu^a

^a Zhengzhou University of Aeronautics, Zhengzhou 450015, China

^b State Key Laboratory of Solidification Processing, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an 710072, China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 October 2015 Received in revised form 7 November 2015 Accepted 15 November 2015 Available online 1 December 2015

Keywords: Directional solidification Microstructure Growth orientation The deviation angle

ABSTRACT

At different directional solidification rates (10, 20 and 100 μ m/s), microstructures and growth orientation variations of Al₂Cu dendrite in Al-40%Cu alloy were characterized. When solidification rates were ranged from 10 to 100 μ m/s, three-dimensional microstructure of Al₂Cu dendrite changed from faceted L-shaped patterns to non-faceted complex dendrite morphology in transverse section. By the macro and micro orientation analysis characterize methods, [001] growth direction of Al₂Cu dendrites with different morphologies was determined. The deviation angle between [001] direction and the heat flow direction was increased with solidified rate increasing. The experimental results showed that the regular solidified microstructure and growth orientation along the heat flow direction could be well controlled under lower directional solidification rate.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	73
2.	Experimental procedures	74
	2.1. Materials	74
	2.2. Characterization	74
3.	Results and discussions	74
	3.1. Microstructure evolution (2D and 3D)	74
	3.2. Growth orientation analysis	75
	3.3. The characteristics of the deviation angle	
	3.4. The mechanism of the growth orientation deviating	77
4.	Conclusions	79
	Acknowledgments	
	References	79

1. Introduction

In the process of dendrite growth, the primary dendrite can form various morphologies and microstructure distributions under directional solidification [1-5], which could result that the toughening methods mainly including the fine grain toughening and the

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: gaoka9222005@163.com (K. Gao).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2015.11.093 0925-8388/© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. second phase toughening occurs. This seriously leads to the crack propagation path deflecting, which improves the fracture toughness and affects mechanical property of the alloys. Thus, the study on dendrite growth is a significant practical importance [6,7]. So far more works indicated that dendrite microstructure evolution was strongly related on the directional solidification rate and the alloy composition, especially the former effect factor. The effect of solidification rate on dendrite growth morphology should been concerned. Li et al. [8] observed various Si dendrite microstructures and the columnar to equiaxed dendrite transition in Al-Si alloy



under different directional solidification rates. Wang et al. [9] studied the microstructure evolution of Al-Cu alloy through changing the directional solidification rate. They found that the planar-to-cellular transformation of Al dendrite morphology occurred with the solidification rates increasing. Besides, Liu et al. [10] investigated the interface morphologies of single crystal super alloy CMSX-2 and found that the evolution of interface morphologies of dendrite bad been changed with directional solidification rate increasing. The above results indicated that the solidification rate played a vital role in dendrite growth.

On the other hand, when dendrite morphologies evolution occurred at different directional solidification rates, its growth orientation variations were also accompanied [6]. Then, dendrite would grow along its growth orientation in growth process. So it is very important to investigate the growth orientation variations of dendrite. Until now, more previous studies ascribed that there had been three main specific directions for dendrite growth under directional solidification: the dendrite growth orientation, the heat flow direction and the preferred crystallographic orientation [11]. And then the relationship among them was transformed with the solidification rate changing. Ardakani et al. [12] showed that the growth orientation of nickel-base single crystal super alloys was [001] direction, which was between the heat flow direction and the preferred orientation during directional solidification. Further, Esaka and Shionzuka et al. [13] found that the dendrite growth orientation gradually turned toward its preferred orientation with the directional solidification rate increasing. However, until recently, the deviation degree between them were not given and discussed, which would lead to the dendrite growth direction not controlled well. Therefore, it is necessary to provide effective analysis methods to characterize dendrite growth orientation deviating during directional solidification.

Thus, in this work, the two-dimensional (2D), three-dimensional (3D) microstructure evolution and growth orientation of Al₂Cu dendrite were investigated during directional solidification. Moreover, the deviation relationship between the dendrite growth orientation and the heat flow direction was characterized and analysed by the macro orientation (the rotating orientation X-ray diffraction) and the micro orientation (the electron back-scattered diffraction) analysis methods.

2. Experimental procedures

2.1. Materials

Al-40 wt.% Cu alloy used in this study was prepared in a vacuum induction melting furnace with purity aluminium (99.9 wt.%) and copper (99.99 wt.%). The composition of the ingot measured by chemical titration is Al-39.2 wt.% Cu. The cast sample were enveloped in high purity Al₂O₃ tube with a inner diameter of 4 mm and length 100 mm. Directional solidification experiments were carried out using a Bridgman vertical vacuum furnace described elsewhere [14]. In this study the thermal gradient was measured using a Φ 0.5 mm NiCr–NiSi thermocouple and its value was about 250 K/ cm at 10 µm/s. In directional solidification process, the sample was heated by a graphite heater at 750 °C and then held isothermal for 20 min. Subsequently, the sample was moved downwards at 10, 20, and 100 µm/s, respectively. In order to keep the S/L interface, when the directional solidification distance reached 50 mm, the sample was quenched into a liquid Ga–In–Sn pool.

2.2. Characterization

The directionally solidified samples obtained in the experiments were then sectioned horizontally and vertically, respectively. And the specimens polished and etched using solvent Kroll of H_2O (46 mL) + HNO₃ (3 mL) + HF (1 mL) for about 15 s. The scanning electron microscopy (SEM, JSM-6390A) were employed to photograph the specimens microstructures. The materialise's interactive medical image control system (Mimics) software was applied to reconstruct the three-dimensional (3D) microstructures images of the primary Al₂Cu phase. The growth orientations were investigated by means of the X-ray powder diffraction (XRD, D/max-3) and the electron back-scattered diffraction (EBSD) in scanning electron microscopy (SEM, Zeiss Supra 55) equipped with the Channel 5 EBSD system (HKL Technology-Oxford instrument). In addition, the deviation angle in directional solidified alloy was measured by the rotating orientation X-ray diffraction (RO-XRD) method in X-ray diffractometer (XRD, Rigaku's D/max2400).

3. Results and discussions

3.1. Microstructure evolution (2D and 3D)

It is well known that the solidified microstructures of Al-40%Cu alloy consist of primary θ -Al₂Cu phase and eutectic (Al/Al₂Cu) phase based on the Al-Cu phase diagram shown in Fig. 1. In directional solidification process, when the melt temperature was cooling down, the θ -Al₂Cu phase would be precipitated firstly as the primary phase from the liquid metals and grew along its growth directions to form dendrite morphology. With a large number of Al₂Cu dendrite precipitating and growing, the composition of the remaining liquid melt was gradually reduced to the eutectic composition. Then the remaining liquid occurred the eutectic reaction and developed in the form of the coupled eutectic (Al/Al₂Cu). When at directional solidification rate of 10 μ m/s, the primary Al₂Cu dendrite could be clearly distinguished from the eutectic in Fig. 2(a). The dendrite displayed regular faceted L-shaped patterns [15] in transverse section and the eutectic exhibited regular lamellar structure morphology. When solidification rate increased to 20 µm/ s, Al₂Cu dendrite displayed irregular non-faceted L-shaped patterns and I-shaped patterns shown in Fig. 2(b). The surface of the dendrite began roughening, which resulted in its edges and corners gradually disappeared. Moreover, the dendrite size was smaller than alloy at 10 µm/s. While the primary Al₂Cu dendrites surface roughened further with the solidification rate increasing. Then at 100 µm/s the dendrite displayed irregular complex three lobately morphology with non-faceted characteristics in Fig. 2(c). The dendrite edges and corners were completely smooth and its size was smallest, which



Fig. 1. Phase diagram of Al-Cu alloy.

differed from the microstructures shown in Fig. 2(a). That implies that the microstructure of the Al₂Cu dendrite can be transformed by changing its growth rate [16,17].

Similar to the internal structure of the human body analyzed by X-ray computed tomography systems (CT) in medicine, in this work milling off the surface of the sample with the staved step-size laver by layer by the serial sectioning technique [18,19], the microstructures images of the polished samples were obtained. Then, the obtained images were transferred into Materialise's interactive medical image control system, fixed position, edited, and reconstructed into three-dimensional (3D) microstructure of Al₂Cu dendrite during different directional solidification rates shown in Fig. 2, which provides a novel way to deeply understand the crystal growth of the solidified phases. At 10 μ m/s, Al₂Cu dendrite was observed having faceted edges and surface, and its growth orientation deviated significantly from the heat flow direction in Fig. 3(a). Preliminary research results [20] showed that the growth orientation of Al₂Cu phase was its [001] direction during directional solidification. By cutting its three-dimensional microstructure along the radial direction, the two-dimensional (2D) morphologies in transverse section displayed the L-shaped pattern, which was consisting with the above result (in Fig. 2(a)). While at 20 μ m/s, solidification rate increasing caused the faceted interface instable [21]. In Fig. 3(b), the 3D microstructure of Al₂Cu dendrite had nonfaceted and coarse surface. Then the dendrite was observed as similarity L-shaped pattern and grew not along the heat flow direction. When the solidification rate increased to 100 µm/s, Al₂Cu dendrite displayed long rod-shaped dendrite with non-faceted surface, and there had been a large deviation angle between its growth orientation and the heat flow direction in Fig. 3(c). The above analysis showed that the solidification rate changing affected greatly the Al₂Cu dendrite morphology.

3.2. Growth orientation analysis

Seen from the three-dimensional microstructures in Fig. 3, the deviation angle between the growth orientation of Al₂Cu dendrite and the heat flow direction became larger with the growth rate increasing. Firstly, based on reported by Huang et al. [22], in this study the Al₂Cu dendrite growth orientations were measured by using XRD. Fig. 4 is the XRD spectrums for Al-40%Cu alloy in transverse sections at different rates. Only two diffraction peaks (110) and (004) of Al₂Cu dendrite appeared in the sample at 10 μ m/ s. It indicated that the growth orientations of Al₂Cu dendrite dendrite were the normal direction of (110) and (004) planes ([110] direction and [001] direction). At 20 μ m/s, the diffraction peak (110) disappeared. Then (330) and (004) planes appeared. Here Al₂Cu dendrite growth orientations were also its [110] direction and [001] direction. When at solidification rate of 100 μ m/s, the crystal plane (330) disappeared and only the diffraction peak (004) increased. Apparently, Al₂Cu dendrite had a strong preferred growth orientation at its [001] direction.

Further, the growth orientations of Al_2Cu dendrite under directional solidification were investigated and characterized by the EBSD analysis. Fig. 5 shows the EBSD maps in the transverse section, the corresponding (100)-pole figures and inverse pole figure of Al_2Cu dendrite at different directional solidification rates, respectively. The L-shaped patterns could be observed at solidification rate of 10 µm/sin Fig. 5(a). From the pole figure, the center position was the heat flow direction. Three poles of Al_2Cu phase were sited near the center and circle of the pole figure (Fig. 5(b)). It is easy to deduced that Al_2Cu dendrite had oriented with its [001]



Fig. 2. Directionally solidified microstructures of Al-40%Cu hypereutectic alloy at different solidification rates in transverse section: (a) at 10 µm/s, (b) at 20 µm/s, and (c) at 100 µm/s.



Fig. 3. The three-dimensional (3D) microstructure of the directionally solidified Al-40%Cu alloy at different solidification rates: (a) at 10 µm/s, (b) at 20 µm/s, and (c) at 100 µm/s.

crystal direction by the application of directional solidification. And the [001] direction was near by the heat flow direction. Then the deviation angle between [001] direction of Al₂Cu dendrite and the heat flow direction was about 7.69 °. Meanwhile, in the inverse pole figure of Fig. 5(c), the preferred growth orientation of Al₂Cu dendrite was only its [001] direction. With the solidification rate increasing, the mainly growth orientation of Al₂Cu phase were also its [001] direction both in the samples at 20 and 100 μ m/s; seen from the Fig. 5(d) to (i). The deviation angle between its [001] direction and the heat flow direction were about 8.02 ° and 8.74 ° shown in Fig. 5(e) and (h), respectively, which were given in Table 1. The above results indicated that with solidification rate decreasing, the growth orientation of Al₂Cu dendrite was further deviated from the heat flow direction. That was agreeing well with the 3D microstructure results in Fig. 3.

3.3. The characteristics of the deviation angle

The following experiments were designed to characterize the deviation degrees changing between growth orientation of the Al₂Cu dendrite and the heat flow direction at different directional solidification rates. According to the above research results, we know that the (110) plane diffraction intensity of Al₂Cu dendrite is the strongest in the XRD diffraction spectrum standard. In addition, the normal direction of (110) plane is perpendicular to the [001] direction (Fig. 6). Then the deviation degree between Al₂Cu dendrite growth orientation and the axial direction (the heat flow direction) could be characterized by the deviation angle between the (110) plane and the longitudinal-section surface of the

directional solidified sample. Therefore, in this work, we selected the (110) plane to do further analysis. Fig. 7 shows the butterfly diagram of symmetrical Gaussian envelope lines for the crystal plane (110) at different solidification rates, in which the RO-XRD method [23,24] was employed.

When at solidification rate of 10 μ m/s, two pairs of symmetrical Gaussian peaks occurred in Fig. 7(a), indicated that there were not



Fig. 4. XRD patterns of Al-40% Cu alloy at different directional solidification rate: (a) at 10 μ m/s, (b) at 20 μ m/s, and (c) at 100 μ m/s.



Fig. 5. (a–c) the transverse section microstructure, the corresponding (100)-pole figure of Al_2Cu phase and inverse pole figure of Al-40%Cu hypereutectic alloy at 10 μ m/s, respectively; (d–f) the transverse section microstructure, the corresponding (100)-pole figure of Al_2Cu phase and inverse pole figure of Al-40%Cu hypereutectic alloy at 20 μ m/s, respectively; and (g–i) the transverse section microstructure, the corresponding (100)-pole figure of Al_2Cu phase and inverse pole figure of Al-40%Cu hypereutectic alloy at 20 μ m/s, respectively; and (g–i) the transverse section microstructure, the corresponding (100)-pole figure of Al_2Cu phase and inverse pole figure of Al-40%Cu hypereutectic alloy at 100 μ m/s, respectively.

less than two grains appeared in the sample macro-surface. On the basis of the work with Guo et al. [25], the deviation angle was calculated. The (110) plane deviated from the heat flow direction about 7.24 ° (shown in Table 2), which was almost equal to the deviation angle between Al₂Cu dendrite [001] direction and the heat flow direction shown in Table 1. In the same way, the deviation angles between (110) plane and the heat flow direction were calculated about 7.73 ° and 8.91 ° at 20 μ m/s and 100 μ m/s shown in Fig. 7(b) and (c), respectively. The deviation degree became lager with the solidification rates increasing, which was consistent with the EBSD results.

3.4. The mechanism of the growth orientation deviating

Al₂Cu dendrite morphology had significant differences at different rates. Especially the degrees of deviation between growth

 Table 1

 The deviation angle between [001] direction of Al₂Cu phase and the heat flow direction.

Sample	The deviation angle (°)
The sample at 10 µm/s	7.69 °
The sample at 20 μm/s	8.02 °
The sample at 100 µm/s	8.74 °

orientation and the heat flow direction were changing. The mainly reason was that the relationship changing between the preferred orientation and the heat flow direction resulted in the dendrite growth orientation deviating with the directional solidification rate changing [11,13].

Table 2

The deviation angle between (110) plane of Al_2Cu phase and the heat flow direction.

Sample	The deviation angle ($^{\circ}$)
The sample at 10 µm/s	7.24 °
The sample at 20 µm/s	7.73 °
The sample at 100 μ m/s	8.91 °

The longitudinal-section surface of sample



Fig. 6. Schematic diagram of two type of deviation angle.



Fig. 7. RO-XRD patterns of (110) plane of Al₂Cu dendrite at different solidification rates: (a) at 10 µm/s, (b) at 20 µm/s, and (c) at 100 µm/s.

In directional solidification process, the growth orientation was between the preferred orientation and the heat flow direction in Fig. 8(a). When the solidification rate was lower, the heat flow factor would play a mainly role on dendrite growth. Then the dendrite would grow near along the heat flow direction, and deviated from its preferred orientation, as shown in Fig. 8(b). With the solidification rate increasing, the solute gradient destabilizes the interface. The interface of Al₂Cu dendrite was instability, leading to solute enrichment. Then the rate of atoms deposition on different crystal planes would be changed, which is related on the interfacial surface energy. Atoms aggregated easily on the crystal plane with higher interfacial surface energy, because of fewer satisfied bonds, which resulted in the anisotropy of the interfacial surface energy. While the anisotropy of interfacial surface energy gradually determined the dendrite growth. Its growth orientation began to deflect to the preferred orientation (Fig. 8(c)), which resulted in the deviation degrees between growth orientation and the heat flow direction gradually increasing. Based on the above theories, in this work the preferred orientation of Al₂Cu dendrite was its [110] direction, which is perpendicular to the heat flow direction. If the solidification rate was increasing, the growth orientation of Al₂Cu dendrite would approach to its [110] direction and deviate from the heat flow direction. Then the dendrite grew along its growth orientation, which had a large deviation angle with the heat flow direction.

During directional solidification, the microstructure and growth orientation of the Al₂Cu dendrite were influenced by solidification rate. The results showed that the regular solidified microstructure and growth orientation along the heat flow direction could be well controlled under lower directional solidification rate. Moreover, this work provided effective micro and macro orientation analysis methods to characterize dendrite growth orientation variations during directional solidification.



Fig. 8. Relationship of preferred orientation, growth orientation and the heat flow direction: (a) at normal solidification rate, (b) at lower solidification rate, and (c) at higher solidification rate.

4. Conclusions

The microstructures and growth orientation of Al₂Cu dendrite in directionally solidified Al-40%Cu hypereutectic alloy under different directional solidification rates were investigated. With the solidification rate ranging from 10 to 100 µm/s, the primary Al₂Cu dendrites in transverse section changed from faceted L-shaped patterns to non-faceted complex morphology. By using the serial sectioning technique, the three-dimensional (3D) microstructures of Al₂Cu dendrite at different rates were observed. The Al₂Cu dendrites all grew along its [001] direction at solidification rate of 10, 20 and 100 μ m/s. With the solidification rate increasing, the deviation angle between growth orientation of Al₂Cu dendrite and the heat flow direction increased by micro and macro orientation analysis methods. The deviation degree was influenced by the solidification rate. A brief description for mechanism of the growth orientation deviating was given.

Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by the fund of the State Key Laboratory of Solidification Processing in NWPU through Grant No. SKLSP201516.

References

[1] X. Li, Z.M. Ren, Y. Fautrelle, Y.D. Zhang, C. Esling, Mater. Lett. 64 (2010)

- 2597-2600.
- [2] J.B. Liu, L.M. Wang, J.S. Jiang, Mater. Lett. 62 (2008) 1569–1571.
- [3] X. Li, Z.M. Ren, Y. Fautrelle, Acta Mater 54 (2006) 5349-5360.
- [4] A. Pocheau, J. Deschamps, M. Georgelin, JOM 59 (2007) 71–76.
- [5] M. Amoorezaei, S. Gurevich, N. Provatas, Acta Mater 60 (2012) 657–663.
- [6] J. Warren, Nat. Mater 5 (2006) 595-596.
- T. Haxhimali, A. Karma, F. Geonales, Nat. Mater 5 (2006) 660-664. [7] [8] X. Li, A. Gagnoud, Y. Fautrelle, Z.M. Ren, R. Moreau, J. Cryst, Growth 367 (2013)
- 94-103
- [9] F. Wang, D.X. Ma, J. Zhang, L. Liu, J.P. Hong, S. Bogner, A. Bührig-Polaczek, Int. J. Mater. Res. 104 (2013) 1-9.
- [10] L. Liu, T.W. Huang, J. Zhang, H.Z. Fu, Mater. Lett. 61 (2007) 227–230.
- [11] H. Esaka, H. Daimon, Y. Natsume, K. Ohsaka, M. Tamura, Mater. Trans. 43 (2002) 1312-1317.
- M.G. Ardakani, N. D'Souza, B.A. Shollock, M. McLean, Metall. Mater. Trans. A 31 [12] (2000) 2887-2893.
- [13] H. Esaka, K. Shionzuka, M. Tamura, Mater. Sci. Eng. A151 (2005) 413–414.
 [14] M. Qu, L. Liu, F.T. Tang, J. Zhang, H.Z. Fu, Trans. Nonferrous. Met. Soc. China 19
- (2009) 1 8
- [15] K. Gao, S.M. Li, H.Z. Fu, Adv. Mater. Lett. 2 (2011) 368-372.
- [16] X.B. Zhao, L. Liu, Z.H. Yu, W.G. Zhang, H.Z. Fu, Mater. Charact. 61 (2010) 7–12.
 [17] K. Gao, S.M. Li, L. Xu, H.Z. Fu, Cryst. Res. Technol. 49 (2014) 164–170.

 - [18] R.S. Sidhu, N. Chawla, Mater. Charact. 52 (2004) 225–230.
 - [19] S.I. Lieberman, A.M. Gokhale, S. Tamirisakandala, Scr. Mater 55 (2006) 63–68.
 - [20] F.P. Dai, B.B. Wei, Sci. China Ser. E. 52 (2009) 848-855.
 - [21] K. Gao, S.M. Li, L. Xu, H.Z. Fu, J. Cryst. Growth 394 (2014) 89-96.
 - [22] N. Huang, A.M. Hu, M. Li, Mater. Lett. 109 (2013) 8-11.
 - [23] Z.M. Xu, Z.Q. Guo, J.G. Li, Mater. Charact. 53 (2004) 395-402.
 - [24] X.B. Zhao, L. Liu, W.G. Zhang, Z.H. Yu, H.Z. Fu, Mater. Chem. Phys. 125 (2011) 55-58
 - [25] Z.Q. Guo, T. Fu, H.Z. Fu, Mater. Charact. 44 (2000) 431-434.